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Statistically we had what writers and speakers called a “flour-
ishing school system” up to World War I (1914); but now,
year after year, the statistics registered great losses, because of
war hysteria and anti-German sentiment. Everybody thought we
were losing large numbers of regular parochial schools. In a syn-
odical essay in 1918 this writer asserted that, over a given period,
Synod had lost about 400 schools and 10,000 pupils, the Minne-
sota District alone having closed 90 schools in a single year.

But, as later discovered, this loss had been almost wholly con-
fined to all-German part-time schools. Statistician E. Eckhardt later
stated: “I doubt that 50 regular schools were closed during the
War, and most of these were soon reopened.” What had happened
since the death of Walther in 1887 was that an ever-increasing
number of congregations had established, or changed to, summer
schools, Saturday schools, and a great variety of other part-time
schools, and had reported them as “Gemeindeschulen,” or had been
forced to report them as such because the Statistical Yearbook had
no category for part-time schools. This meant a distortion of the
statistics. From 1917 to 1921 the statistician cleared the statistics.
To cite a few examples: The Minnesota District had been credited
with 301 schools in 1916 (the largest number in Synod), while
in reality it had only 122 regular schools; the Atlantic District
showed 68 in 1916, but actually had 17. Synod was credited with
2,313 schools and 96,737 pupils, but really had only 1,277 schools
and 73,190 pupils. The part-time schools ordinarily taught only
the German language and religion in German. These were the
schools which dropped like flies during World War I. Sunday
school enrollment in 1916 was 85,910; in 1921, 120,625.

An aftermath of the War and war hysteria was (a) the enact-
ment of anti-German laws in 21 states; (b) contemplated state
supervision of parochial schools; (c) the organization of campaigns,
notably in Michigan and Oregon, to abolish private and parochial
schools altogether.

The First Three Districts to Take Action

The Northern Illinois District, in session at St. James Church,
Chicago, I1l., May 22—28, 1918, was the first to establish a super-
intendency. It was done upon the recommendation of the District
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parochial schools; in addition, the Nebraska, Ohio, and lowa lan-
guage cases were tried in the courts and soon carried to the U.S.
Supreme Court.

Since early 1919 this writer had spent much time in the Indiana
and Ohio legislatures trying to forestall legislation harmful to our
schools. By 1920 his main fear was state supervision. Knowing
that other Districts harbored the same fear, he suggested to the
General School Board the calling of a general school conference
to discuss state supervision and to agree on a stand to take and on
a uniform procedure. The board reacted favorably, invited the
writer to attend one of its meetings to help plan such a confer-
ence and a program, and then, in true Missouri-Synod fashion,
asked him to present a paper on “State Supervision of Parochial
Schools.” The conference was held at River Forest, I11., February 23
and 24, 1921.*° Present were: representatives of the General and
District School Boards, the District superintendents, the President
of Synod, and representatives of our seminaries, teachers colleges,
and of the Wisconsin Synod.

Organization of the Superintendents Conference

On the day after the School Conference, February 25, 1921,
the District Superintendents met in Chicago to organize the Super-
intendents Conference and adopted the following:

RULES AND REGULATIONS
OF THE SUPERINTENDENTS CONFERENCE
OF THE MISSOURI SYNOD

February 25, 1921

1. Name: The name of this body shall be The Conference of District School
Superintendents of the Evangelical Lutheran Synod of Missouri, Ohio,
and Other States.

2. Purpose:

a. Co-operation
b. Exchange of Ideas and Experiences

18 For a report on the conference see Lutheran School Jowrnal, 1921, p. 179. It
contains a description of the precarious school situation.
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11. Pres. Mayer of Michigan attended for a half hour, “and an
informal discussion was held with him.”

12. The teachers were to be warned to be extremely careful
in adopting textbooks not published by Synod. NoTe. In 1920
the special textbook committee of Synod had already recommended

quite a number of nonsynodical textbooks. (See Synodal-Bericht
of 1920.)

13. Mr. Seuel gave each member a copy of Krauss's Meine
Schuljahre, and offered “to supply (gratis) each superintendent
with a copy of any of Concordia’s publications pertaining to school
work and Christian training.”

14. “Professional books and periodicals for teachers were con-
sidered.” Grossmann was asked to assign subjects to each member
for the purpose of recommending such books and periodicals.

15. Increasing the circulation of the School Jowrnal was an-
other topic.

16. “Our Executive Secretary was advised to examine our church
publications (Lutheran Witness and Der Lutheraner), and see to
it that also our teachers and their work be given due mention
therein.”

17. “In order to give our school work its due prominence, it
was resolved to request Synod to list in our Annwual the superin-
tendents of schools and the school boards together with the other
officials of Synod.”

18. “Are we by virtue of our peculiar office ‘ordained min-
isters of the Gospel’? This question is always the deciding one in
the refusal or the granting of clergy rates to teachers. The Execu-
tive Secretary is requested to obtain from the respective synodical
officials a definite answer to this question.”

19. “The alarming teacher shortage was discussed — 108 calls,
38 candidates. We must fill our teachers colleges next fall.” But
for the present crisis: “Assist our executive secretary in his efforts
to regain faithful ex-teachers. Endorse the Western District School
Board’s plan for training women teachers. Recruit Lutheran public
school teachers.”

20. Certification of teachers was discussed. No action.
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the rounds in a circuit, he would also meet with the Visitor. Wher-
ever it was possible, the schools were visited every year.

But school visitation was only one of the superintendent’s duties.
Some superintendents had the rule of visiting schools for a week or
two and then spending an equal amount of time at home, partly
to rest up from their exhausting trip, but mostly to attend to cor-
respondence, records, and numerous other tasks required of the
office, such as preparing addresses and conference papers, writing
articles and reports, or guiding the District boards or committees
at work on some project. A superintendent attended many meet-
ings, also those of public school teachers and officials. He worked
with congregations not yet having a school, often together with
the Visitor. He was called in by congregations or Visitors to help
settle certain difficulties. Also he had to do much reading and
studying.

Methods, textbooks, the course of study, weekly schedules, the
language question, salaries, teachers’ work loads, buildings, sanita-
tion, school equipment, room appointments, recommendation of
teachers, school visitation by the pastor and the Visitor, the prin-
cipalship, and many other things needed attention. There was no
eight-hour day or forty-hour week. But the superintendent enjoyed
tairly long vacation periods, into which were mixed official duties.
In all his work and dealings, in his readings and studies, he aimed
more and more to be a man of sound principle and to have a clear
conception of the Biblical philosophy of education and training,
so that he could go out and advise or correct others as a man of
authority. Mistakes were made. Here and there a man or some
of his actions were disliked; but, on the whole, Synod now had
a very efficient system of promoting its parochial schools and Chris-
tian education generally. Everything profited from the improving
school system.

Office of Executive Secretary Endangered

Early in 1922 the executive secretary of the General School
Board received a call to Concordia Teachers College, River Forest, 111.
He had been in his new ofhce barely a year. At about the same
time the Northern Illinois District Pastoral Conference resolved to
memorialize Synod in 1923 to abolish his office. This resolution
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spoke for the schools, someone was sure to say, “But the Sunday
school is also a very important institution.” This factional attitude
began to be eliminated only after 1932, when the interests of both
agencies were united in one Board, the Board of Christian Educa-
tion. The historical mistake had been to create two boards. Once
made, it took years of argument and effort to remedy the situation
that had developed. The writer suggested a single board to the first
Sunday school committee in 1922, but all efforts on the part of the
General School Board, conferences, including the superintendents
conference, and memorials to Synod in 1923 and 1926, failed to
bring about a complete amalgamation until 1932.

In 1927 the Sunday School Board called Rev. Wm. H. Luke
as secretary of Sunday schools, and the superintendents conference
changed its constitution to admit him as a member. Meanwhile,
since 1924, the General School Board and the Sunday School Board
held annual joint meetings, some of them attended by the super-
intendents conference. The “factions” were getting acquainted.
Co-operation was the watchword. In their first joint meeting in
1924 the boards, though separate entities, recommended single
boards of education for the Districts and congregations. Gradually
the superintendents of schools developed into superintendents of
Christian education, with responsibility for all phases of parish edu-
cation. As it should be, the schools, of course, remained their chief
concern.

The deliberations of the superintendents conference included
intensive studies of doctrine, of the Biblical principles of education,
and of the call of the teacher and the superintendent. One of the
superintendents once overreached himself in an otherwise excellent
paper by declaring that the Gospel is the only means of training.
The conference spotted the error, agreed with Lindemann in his
Schul-Praxis, and insisted: “The Gospel is the only means of sal-
vation and the only source of spiritnal life and strength, but not
the only means of training.” An Iowa District committee had given
unsound reasons for calling a superintendent for a limited time only.
The superintendents and the General School Board sought to cot-
rect the error. A reviewer had criticised a synodical essayist (a pas-
tor) for saying that the schools are a matter of conscience with us;
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ington, D. C,, to oppose the Smith-Towner Bill. Many of its backers
among the Ku Klux Klan and Masonic lodge meant to deal the
private and parochial schools a hard blow. In 1928 the board’s
spokesmen were Rev. F. J. Lankenau and the writer. In opposing
this bill the superintendents had, from the beginning, attacked the
procedures employed.

In 1929 Synod resolved on a partial amalgamation of its two
general boards — the General School Board in the Chicago area
becoming the Committee on Schools and the Sunday School Board
in the St. Louis area, the Committee on Sunday Schools. The title
of Executive Secretary of the School Board was changed to Secre-
tary of Schools. In 1932 a single board of Christian education was
elected in the St. Louis area, with instructions to call an executive
secretary. My office was moved to St. Louis in December 1932. The
board did not call an executive secretary until 1943, when Rev.
Arthur C. Repp became the incumbent.

Also in 1929, the President of Synod was instructed to appoint
a Catechism Committee for the purpose of improving the synodical
Catechism. He appointed eleven men, among them Supt. Wm.
Nickel, Supt. Otto E. Schroeter, Rev. Wm. H. Luke, and the writer.
The committee finished its work in 1941, when five members had
died and two resigned, leaving four men, two of them favoring the
acceptance of the finished product, the other two opposing its adop-
tion by Synod. Three of these four have since departed this life.

Deaths Among the Superintendents

Otto E. Schroeter, Central District, 1922—31; January 17, 1931.
Wm. H. Luke, Secy., Sunday Schools, 1927—32; October 11, 1932.
Wm. Nickel, Kansas District, 1922—33; March 10, 1935.

C. H. Seltz, Iowa District, 1920—27; August 18, 1939.

A. A. Grossmann, South Wisconsin, 1920—24; February 19, 1941.
H. H. Hillmann, Nebraska District, 1921—41; March 21, 1941.
Fr. Meyer, Michigan District, 1919—28; November 5, 1942.

P. T. Buszin, Northern Illinois, 1918—40; September 9, 1944.
(Part-time work till 1942.)

H. F. Bade, Western District, 1927—46; July 28, 1953.
(Part-time work till 1949.)
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Even the first superintendents, before 1940, had developed into
superintendents of education, with general responsibility in educa-
tion, especially since the partial and complete amalagamation of
the General School Board and the Sunday School Board in 1929
and 1932. It began when the first joint meeting of these boards
in 1924 recommended single boards of education for the Districts
and the congregations and was fairly well devoloped by 1931.
An example of the development is the fact that the Minnesota Dis-
trict in 1939 (after years of deliberation and hesitation) estab-
lished the office of District Director of Education and called Rev.
H. ]. Boettcher in 1940. A contributing factor in the development
before 1940 was the School Conference, which, since 1929, was
called the Educational Conference because of its widened respon-
sibility. But the more distinct development came since 1940, dur-
ing which period Synod and the Districts made their boards and
executives responsible for the promotion of all phases of parish
education.

How did all this affect the schools? For one thing, they re-
mained a special object of promotion. All are agreed that this
should be so. The factions of years ago have, thank God! disap-
peared. In the second place, largely because of the groundwork of
boards and superintendents since 1914 and in the early twenties,
the school system was, by the grace of God, well sustained during
the economic depression of the thirties and has seen its greatest
expansion since 1940. While it may seem that school promotion
must be greatly curtailed now that boards and superintendents have
such a multiplicity of concerns, and without question no longer
receives full-time attention, the fact remains that the expansion of
the school system has been concurrent with the multiplication of
educational duties. No doubt, the impact which Synod and the Dis-
tricts have made on parish education in all its aspects has, directly
or indirectly, promoted education by means of schools; and this
includes our growing system of local secondary schools, ten of which
were founded since 1940.

And what about all other phases of Christian education?
Although no department considers its work finished by any means
and although there is in Synod much room for improvement, it
can be said without fear of contradiction that truly great itprove-
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IOWA DISTRICT — established the office of Superintendent of Schools in 1919.

Rev. C. H. Seltz was installed on October 24, 1920. He served until 1927, when
he took a pastorate. He died on August 18, 1939.

July 1, 1928, Teacher H. F. C. Mueller was installed, and he served until 1937,
when the District was divided, and then served in the Iowa District West until 1945,
being installed on September 1, 1937. After teaching school from 1946 to 1949 he
retired. At present living in Lotts Creek, Iowa. Neither District has a superintendent
at the present time.

KANSAS DISTRICT —established the office of Superintendent of Schools
in 1921.

Teacher Wm. Nickel was installed on April 23, 1922. He served until 1933, when
he resigned. He died March 10, 1935.

The office of Executive Secretary was established in 1948. Rev. Arnold F. Meyer
was installed in this office on February 15, 1948. He served until 1952, when he
accepted the call to be Executive Secretary of the Colorado District.

In 1951 the District established the office of Superintendent of Parish Education.
Mr. Arnold C. Erxleben was installed on August 28, 1952.

MICHIGAN DISTRICT — office of Superintendent of Schools established at its
convention June 19—25, 1918.

Prof. Friedrich Meyer, principal of the Milwaukee Lutheran High School, was in-
stalled on the first Sunday after New Year, 1919. He served until 1928; died
November 5, 1942.

Teacher S. J. Roth was installed on August 15, 1929.

In 1945 the office of Assistant Superintendent was created. Teacher E. W. Haack
was installed on August 26, 1945. He served until 1954, when he accepted a teaching
position at Our Redeemer, Muskegon, Mich.

The office of second Assistant Superintendent, especially for its part-time agencies,
was established in 1946. Rev. Remus C. Rein was installed on August 24, 1947. He
served until March 2, 1952, when he became the Executive Secretary of the Central
Illinois District.

On January 2, 1955, Teacher Erwin F. Wiese became the Assistant Superintendent
of the District.

MINNESOTA DISTRICT — created the office of Director of Christian Education
in 1939.

Rev. H. J. Boettcher was installed on June 12, 1940. He served until the summer
of 1952, when he became Superintendent of the Lutherar High School Association
in Chicago, Ill.

Rev. E. H. Bohrer was installed on October 4, 1953, as District Counselor.

On September 21, 1954, it was resolved to call a Counselor in Parish Education
and to appoint Counselor Bohrer as Co-ordinating Counselor.

Teacher Raymond E. Maag was installed on January 15, 1956.

NEBRASKA DISTRICT — created the office of Executive Secretary of Christian
Education in 1921,

Teacher Henry H. Hillmann was installed on December 18, 1921. He served
until his death on March 21, 1941.

Teacher E. Charles Mueller was installed on August 9, 1943, after having carried
on the work for some time prior to this date while still teaching. Mr. Mueller served
both Districts until 1949 and then the Southern Nebraska District to the present time.

The Northern Nebraska District resolved in 1949 to establish the office of Dis-
trict Executive Secretary. Rev. Walter L. Barth was installed in August 1955 as
Executive Secretary of Stewardship and Education.

NORTHWEST DISTRICT

Rev. Carl F. Nitz was installed as Counselor of Stewarship and Education on

April 15, 1956.
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